THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 30 2019

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001137

John Edward Washington,.....Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT
OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the lower court erred in failing to find counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel that prejudiced Petitioner when he failed to utilize mental health expert(s) prior to and during Petitioner's guilty plea.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. Smalls v. State, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Richland County Clerk of Court. During the March 2014 term, Petitioner was indicted for the offense of murder by the Richland County Grand Jury (Indictment No. 2014-GS-40-00387). App. p. 59.

On February 5, 2015, Petitioner appeared in front of the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson at the Richland County Courthouse. App. p. 1. Petitioner was represented by Johnny S. Gasser, Esquire. The State was represented by Kathryn Cavanaugh, Assistant Solicitor. Petitioner entered a guilty plea to murder. The plea was accepted, and Respondent was sentenced to a term of forty years by the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson App. p. 47. A direct appeal was not filed on Petitioner's behalf.

On December 3, 2015, Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief. App. p. 49. On April 27, 2016, a Return was filed. App. p. 61. On March 6, 2018, Petitioner, through counsel, filed an Amendment to his Application, which stated:

Applicant would move to amend his Application for Post Conviction Relief. In general, Applicant would allege that his rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as pursuant to Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, were violated prior to and during his guilty plea. Applicant would further amend and explain the allegations set forth in his Application for Post-Conviction Relief by adding the following specific allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel that rendered his guilty plea involuntary due to counsel's failure to utilize mental health experts to review records and evaluate Applicant prior to the entry of his guilty plea and to assist in his plea

proceeding, specifically, as follows:

- a. Failure to utilize mental health experts to assist in plea negotiations.
- b. Failure to utilize mental health experts to formulate possible defenses and/or in mitigation.
- c. Failure to utilize mental health experts to ensure that Applicant's plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered.

App. p. 68.

On March 22, 2018 an evidentiary hearing was conducted at the Richland County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. App. p. 71. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Jessica Kinard, Assistant Attorney General. Respondent proceeded on the allegations set forth in his Application and called Dr. Tora Brawley, Ph.D., Dr. Donna Schwartz Maddox, M.D., Jan Washington Caldwell, Johnny Gasser, Esquire. Petitioner introduced six exhibits during the evidentiary hearing. App. p. 191.

Thereafter, the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith requested Respondent propose an Order of Dismissal. The Order of Dismissal was signed on June 25, 2018 and filed on June 29, 2018. App. p. 225. Petitioner, through counsel, received notice of entry of the Order on July 2, 2018. On July 3, 2018, Petitioner, through counsel submitted a Rule 59(a) and (e), Motion. App. p. 242. An Order denying the Motion was issued on August 28, 2018 and filed on August 31, 2018. App. p. 246.

Petitioner, through counsel, filed a timely Notice of Intent to Appeal, from which this Petition follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. The lower court erred in failing to find counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel that prejudiced Petitioner when he failed to utilize mental health expert(s) prior to and during Petitioner's guilty plea.

It is well established that a guilty plea may not be accepted unless it is voluntarily and understandingly made. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709 (1969). In South Carolina, the courts have consistently held that that a defendant must have a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. Smith v. State, 329 S.C. 280, 494 S.E.2d 626 (1997), Simpson v. State, (317 S.C. 506, 455 S.E.2d 175 (1995). Additionally, a defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.¹ See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). In examining the assistance provided by counsel, "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007).

In a PCR stemming from a guilty plea, an applicant alleging a constitutional violation must frame the issue as one of ineffective assistance of counsel. Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 527 S.E.2d 742 (1999). Therefore, an applicant that entered a plea on

¹ The "Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the right to have counsel present at all 'critical' stages of the criminal proceedings." Montejo v. Louisiana, 556 U.S. 778, 786, 129 S. Ct. 2079, 173 L. Ed. 2d 955 (2009) (quoting United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 227-228, 87 S. Ct. 1926, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149 (1967)). Critical stages include arraignments, post-indictment interrogations, post-indictment lineups, and the entry of a guilty plea. See Hamilton v. Alabama, 368 U.S. 52, 82 S. Ct. 157, 7 L. Ed. 2d 114 (1961)(arraignment); Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201, 84 S. Ct. 1199, 12 L. Ed. 2d 246 (1964) (postindictment interrogation); Wade, supra (postindictment lineup); Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25, 92 S. Ct. 2006, 32 L. Ed. 2d 530 (1972) (guilty plea).

the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary nature of that plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, applicant would not have pled guilty and insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S. Ct. 366 (1985), Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000). In Hill, the Supreme Court of the United States made it clear that the "voluntariness of the plea depends on whether counsel's advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." 474 U.S. at 57, 106 S.Ct. at 369. In Hill and Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010), the Supreme Court of the United States examined the role of advising a client about a plea offer and ensuing guilty plea as was discussed in Missouri v. Frye, 132 S. Ct. 1399, 1405-06 (2012), as follows:

Hill established that claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in the plea bargain context are governed by the two-part test set forth in Strickland. See Hill, supra, at 57, 106 S. Ct. 366, 88 L. Ed. 2d 203. As noted above, in Frye's case, the Missouri Court of Appeals, applying the two part test of Strickland, determined first that defense counsel had been ineffective and second that there was resulting prejudice.

In Hill, the decision turned on the second part of the test. There, a defendant who had entered a guilty plea claimed his counsel had misinformed him of the amount of time he would have to serve before he became eligible for parole. But the defendant had not alleged that, even if adequate advice and assistance had been given, he would have elected to plead not guilty and proceed to trial. Thus, the Court found that no prejudice from the inadequate advice had been shown or alleged. Hill, supra, at 60, 106 S. Ct. 366, 88 L. Ed. 2d 203.

In Padilla, the Court again discussed the duties of counsel in advising a client with respect to a plea offer that leads to a guilty plea. Padilla held that a guilty plea, based on a plea offer, should be set aside because counsel misinformed the defendant of the immigration consequences of the conviction. The Court made clear that "the negotiation of a plea bargain is a critical phase of litigation for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel." 559 U.S., at ___, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 176 L. Ed. 2d 284, 298. It also rejected the argument made by

petitioner in this case that a knowing and voluntary plea supersedes errors by defense counsel. Cf. Brief for Respondent in Padilla v. Kentucky, O. T. 2009, No. 08-651, p. 27 (arguing Sixth Amendment's assurance of effective assistance "does not extend to collateral aspects of the prosecution" because "knowledge of the consequences that are collateral to the guilty plea is not a prerequisite to the entry of a knowing and intelligent plea").

In South Carolina, a substantial number of cases have developed a body of case law that establish which consequences must be explained to a defendant by counsel prior to a plea. Generally speaking, a defense attorney must only inform a defendant of the direct consequences of his plea, and counsel has no obligation to inform his client of the collateral consequences of his plea. See Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983), Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 395, 570 S.E.2d 172 (2002) (finding that a defendant need not be informed of the collateral consequences of his sentence such as parole eligibility; however if an attorney undertakes to advise a defendant of the collateral consequences of his sentences, then the advice must be accurate).

Direct consequences have a "definite, immediate, and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment." Cuthrell v. Director, Paxtuent Institution, 475 F.2d 1364, 1366 (4th Cir. 1973). If a criminal defendant does not properly understand the direct consequences of his plea, then the plea is invalid. State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980). A defense counsel's failure to advise a client of the direct consequences of a guilty plea constitutes ineffective assistance counsel. Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 524 S.E.2d 623 (1999). Additionally, constitutionally defective performance is found when defense counsel offers erroneous advice concerning an issue that is central to the defendant's decision to plead guilty. Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 542, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991).

In Glover v. United States, 531 U.S. 198, 203 (2003), the Supreme Court of the United States held “any amount of [additional] jail time has Sixth Amendment significance.” In Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 613, 675 S.E.2d 416, 422-23 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court reasoned that it is not always necessary for a defendant to offer objective evidence to support a claim of actual prejudice. Instead, depending on the facts of the case, a defendant's self-serving statement may be sufficient to establish actual prejudice. See Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 97, 535 S.E.2d 926, 927 (2000) (rejecting objective evidence requirement established in Judge and finding Petitioner proved he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance in failing to properly advise the Petitioner that he was pleading to a felony rather than a misdemeanor where Petitioner's uncontradicted testimony established that he would not have pled had he known the charge was a felony), overruling Judge v. State, 321 S.C. 554, 562, 471 S.E.2d 146, 150 (1996) (“The second prong of the ineffective assistance inquiry--prejudice--is shown by demonstrating through objective evidence . . . [the existence of] a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's advice, [the defendant] would have accepted the plea. Mere statements by the PCR petitioner that he would have accepted the plea agreement but for counsel's incompetence are insufficient to show prejudice because they are self-serving and inherently unreliable.”) (citation omitted); See also Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006) (“The defendant's undisputed testimony that he would not have pled guilty to the charges but for trial counsel's advice is sufficient to prove that defendant would not have pled guilty.”), Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000) (holding that there was enough evidence to demonstrate that there was a reasonable probability that defendant would not have pled guilty even though defendant

did not specifically testify that he would have insisted upon going to trial if he had known the solicitor was going to make a recommendation).

Similarly, in Ray v. State, 303 S.C. 374, 401 S.E.2d 151 (1991), counsel was found to be ineffective for erroneously advising the defendant regarding the sentence he could receive, thus inducing a guilty plea. On appeal, the State agreed that the advice given was erroneous but argued that the lack of prejudice required reversal. Ray, 303 S.C. at 376, 401 S.E.2d at 153. In addressing the difference between the sentence Ray was advised he could receive (life) versus the actual sentence he could receive (possible 75 years without parole) and the issue of prejudice, this Court reasoned:

We hold this distinction is sufficient to satisfy prong two of the Hill v. Lockhart test. Ray's steadfast maintenance of his innocence; his uncontroverted testimony that he would not have pled guilty absent the erroneous advice of counsel; and the real distinction between the penalty Ray faces and the advice given him, convince us to *REVERSE* the lower court and *REMAND* for a new trial.

Ray v. State, 303 S.C. 374, 376, 401 S.E.2d 151, 153 (1991).

"In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing." Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007). "Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing." Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2000).

A. Summary of the Plea Record

At the outset of plea proceeding in front of the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Mr. Gasser informed the court that he had met with Petitioner eighteen times, reviewed the

discovery and applicable case law, and even consulted with other lawyers about possible defenses. App. pp. 3-5. When Judge Dickson asked Petitioner about his mental health, he responded that he was on medication for depression and he understood what was going on. App. pp. 6-7. He further stated he was satisfied with his attorney and understood what his attorney had told him. App. p. 9. The State informed the court that Petitioner did not have a prior record, and the court began reading the indictment. App. pp. 13, 15. After the court asked if Petitioner understood the allegations contained in the indictment, it is reported that Petitioner collapsed. App. p. 15. Mr. Gasser explained that Petitioner locked his knees, and the proceeding resumed. App. p. 16.

When asked how he wanted to plead, it is again reported that Petitioner collapsed. App. p. 17. In response to the court's concern, Petitioner said it was "probably dehydration." App. p. 17, lns. 9-15. Thereafter, the matter of competency was addressed, and counsel explained that he had discussed the matter with Petitioner's ex-wife. App. p. 18. He conferred with Petitioner and informed the court that he was satisfied that Petitioner "knows what he is doing today." App. p. 19, lns. 5-8. App. pp. 20-21.

Petitioner entered his plea, and it was accepted by the court. App. pp. 20-21. The State requested "significantly higher than the minimum." App. p. 24, lns. 13-14. In mitigation, counsel explained that he advised Petitioner it was in his best interest to "plead guilty and ask for whatever mercy this court would be willing to give." App. p. 27, lns. 14-18. He also informed the court about Petitioner's diagnosis of severe depression and the medications he had been prescribed. App. p. 28, ln. 20 – p. 29, ln. 8. He characterized Petitioner as the "perfect soldier." App. p. 30, ln. 5. After hearing from Jan

Washington Caldwell, Petitioner and a letter from Petitioner's daughter, counsel asked the court to consider the lower end of the sentence. App. pp. 34 – 45.

The court stood down for ten minutes, and then, Petitioner was sentenced to forty years. App. pp. 45, 47. The court stated: "I'm hoping that what happened will emphasize the need to address domestic violence and mental-health issues in this state, including, depression. App. p. 46, ln. 14 – p. 47, ln. 1.

B. Summary of the Evidentiary Hearing Record

1. Tora Brawley, Ph.D.

At the outset of the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner called Tora Brawley, Ph.D., to the stand. App. p. 79. Dr. Brawley was admitted as expert in area of clinical neuropsychology. App. p. 80. Dr. Brawley acknowledged that she conducted an evaluation of Petitioner on May 4, 2017 at the request of Dr. Schwartz Maddox and counsel. App. p. 80. She explained the extended clinical interview and battery of tests she conducted on Petitioner. App. pp. 81-84.

Regarding results, she reported, in detail, significant impairments that were present. App. p. 84. In summary, she found the results were consistent with the presence of brain deficiency and dementia. App. p. 85. She recommended that Petitioner undergo an MRI.

After conducting her evaluation, she recalled receiving Petitioner's military records, which contained neuropsychological testing from 2011, a copy of which was admitted. App. p. 85, 197. She explained: "So it was great for me to be able to see where he was in 2011 compared to where he was when I saw him." App. p. 85, lns. 22-24. She explained that the testing was conducted by a traumatic brain injury clinic to see if

Petitioner met military retention standards, which is a different “beast” than early dementia deficits. App. pp. 87-88. Despite the report finding no deficits, Dr. Brawley explained the testing did show seven areas of deficits in 2011.² App. p. 87-88. When asked to compare her findings with the deficits reported in 2011, she explained: “Back then, he had the seven areas of deficits. Now, he has many more and many things have gotten much worse over the time. So, I do feel that there’s something degenerative going on and I feel he is declining with his cognitive steps.” App. p. 90, Ins. 6-10.

She agreed that, she would have been willing to assist the defense and testify as needed if contacted by defense counsel. App. p. 88. She further agreed she would have reviewed the 2011 testing and made the same findings. App. pp. 88-90. She also would have conducted the testing and made the recommendations to counsel she had already explained. App. pp. 88, 90, 93. On cross-examination, she agreed that Petitioner’s symptoms would have raised a red flag for dementia in 2011. App. p. 93, Ins. 22-25.

Turning to the mental evaluation conducted by the State after the filing of the PCR Application, she explained that she previously worked for the Department of Mental Health in the forensic services unit. App. p. 89. At that time, someone with Petitioner’s charges would have undergone formal testing and could have had an MRI or EEG and seen a neurologist. App. p. 89. She noted that no formal testing was done with Petitioner, and the Department of Mental Health only conducted an interview and a “mini mental status” as part of that interview. App. p. 89.

2. Dr. Schwartz Maddox

² On cross-examination, she further explained that she had to rescore portions of the 2011 report, and she found inaccurate estimates. App. pp. 91-2.

Following Dr. Brawley, Petitioner called Dr. Donna Schwartz Maddox to the stand. App. p. 95. Dr. Maddox was admitted as an expert in the area of forensic psychiatry. App. p. 96. She explained that she was contacted by counsel and conducted an evaluation of Petitioner at Broad River Correctional Institution. App. p. 96-7. Prior to her evaluation, she recalled reviewing Petitioner's recent evaluation by Dr. Frierson, medical records from his car accident post-offense, records from Moncrief Army Hospital that predated his offense, plea transcript, incident and crime scene reports, investigative notes, statements, autopsy report, Dr. Brawley's report and results of the MRI she ordered. App. p. 97.

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