RECEIVED

FEB 19 2019

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas in a Post-Conviction Relief Action
J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001137

BENJAMIN J. NEWMAN, #352829,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Specifically in regards to the CI, Ainsworth, trial counsel had an impression that he could not be believed—he was aware that the CI "had spent quite some time running from state to state to state to state" and "had charges all over the place." (App. 654-55). Counsel was aware that Ainsworth's bondsman was under pressure to secure him and in fact "had several conversations with the bonding company about where the heck he was." (App. 655-56). Counsel was not only aware of Ainsworth's "previous history," but had "several conversations with other people explaining [Ainsworth's] disappearance" and assessed that Ainsworth, if called to the stand, would only "say what [was] most beneficial to Josh Ainsworth at the time." (App. 662). Trial

counsel explained that even if he had found Ainsworth pre-trial, he would not have utilized him at a witness because counsel's investigation into Ainsworth indicated he did not provide consistent stories. (App. 675). But even if the "major reason" for choosing not to contact the CI was not his unreliability, it was not the sole reason. (App. 674). Trial counsel "didn't know where he was most of the time[]." (App. 674).

At trial, counsel "was trying to force [the State] into calling Mr. Ainsworth" because he was aware that everything Ainsworth said was "subject to ridicule, if you will, so it appeared to be better trial strategy to have him talked about as being there as opposed to" counsel finding him and placing him on the stand. (App. 657). Trial counsel learned that Ainsworth had been brought to the courthouse on the day of Petitioner's trial. (App. 655, 663). But the State chose not to present Ainsworth. (App. 663). Trial counsel explained that in assessing Ainsworth in the context of the remainder of the evidence presented at trial, he "thought that the jury would be more overcome with the fact that the whole thing began with him and that he was working for the police" and yet the State "didn't put him up there to testify." (App. 660). Thus, in another strategic move, trial counsel argued to the jury that Ainsworth was the key to the affirmative defense of entrapment because he "wanted the jury to have reasonable doubt in regards to the little holes that [he] was trying to throw out there"—there were "many issues that seemed like [they] could have been presented better if the State had really wanted to prove that my client was guilty." (App. 661).

Trial counsel was seeking a jury instruction on the defense of entrapment. While trial counsel succeeded in that regard, (App. 428-29), he did not think he could prove it as he assessed the case which would go forth at trial. He recognized law enforcement "had been looking at Benji for quite a while," making it difficult to prove that he was not predisposed to the drug deal

that occurred. (App. 661). As to his client being void of predisposition, counsel assessed: “conceivably if [he] had attempted to bring that out, [the State] might have brought out other information they had about Benji where they knew about this drug deal or that drug deal” based upon what counsel knew of Petitioner’s history. (App. 676).

Yet, when it became clear that he would get the jury instruction, counsel pointed out the absence of the CI at closing order to plant in the jury’s mind that the CI who was not present at trial set him up, and that Petitioner otherwise would not have engaged in the deal. (App. 661, *see* App. 408-11). Counsel recognized and argued to the jury “that everything was brought about by virtue of something the State had done or something else that the confidential informant had done.” (App. 676, *see* App. 411-18). Although counsel had to calculate how to convey that argument to the peculiarity of a Lexington County jury:

in my experience when you want to accuse a police officer of doing something wrong you have to do it in a kind and caring way because the jury – particularly Lexington County juries will turn you off as soon as you say it plainly and clearly, so you have to let them feel that perhaps the police officer made a mistake, he wasn’t doing this the right way, but he certainly didn’t have evil intent[.]

(App. 678).

As for alternative defenses, trial counsel also testified that in his assessment, the jury would not buy a defense that the drug deal never actually took place, because “there had been a substantial amount of conversation, if [he] remember[ed] right, about how it’s cooked and how it’s done” such that “there clearly had been something going on with the cocaine and the marijuana” based on the evidence presented at trial. (App. 658). He did not think it wise to put Petitioner on the stand. (App. 669). Trial counsel determined it best to challenge the timing of the issuance of the search warrant in comparison to the actual search that was conducted after the

flash-bang at the scene. (App. 664, 676-79). Trial counsel conducted a full suppression hearing on this issue which was ultimately not successful.¹ (App. 1-146; *see* App. 30-31).

As for the remainder of Petitioner's PCR presentation, it fails to discount the reasonableness of trial counsel's investigation and preparation for the trial given the facts of the case. Petitioner testified that he retained trial counsel on this charge because he had previously represented Petitioner's family members, as well as Petitioner on a prior DUI. (App. 689). In Petitioner's view, trial counsel did not really help him prepare for trial and Petitioner "didn't like the way things w[ere] unfolding" leading up to the trial date even though he had met with counsel and reviewed the evidence in his case. (App. 690-93). Petitioner testified that he was not aware of any pre-trial investigation conducted by trial counsel, who, according to Petitioner, did not discuss any potential witnesses with his client. (App. 694). Petitioner wanted counsel to "speak to every witness as possible to help [him] prove his innocence in this case," including the CI Ainsworth, whom Petitioner had grown up with. (App. 694, 698). Trial counsel advised Petitioner that it "was a good thing that Ainsworth was not going to be called as a witness at trial. (App. 694). However, Petitioner maintained that he personally believed Ainsworth was "the

¹ A suppression full hearing was conducted which delved into whether law enforcement searched the residence prior to the officer's arriving with the search warrant. (App. 1-146). Agents testified that when the officers came in to make the arrest, the marijuana was readily visible. (App. 19; App. 95). One officer testified they discovered the cocaine in a bookbag which was lying open on the floor next to the kitchen island. (App. 95). Another officer explained that the cocaine was on the kitchen counter and then was no longer there and that the SWAT team was looking for it in the backyard because they thought Petitioner took it when he ran. (App. 115-16). The trial court listened to the recording from the audio recording device worn by Agent Carver during the drug transaction. (App. 15-17, App. 127-29). The trial court pointed out that the CI and undercover agent were invited into the house and that the contraband was in clear view. (App. 131). The trial court determined the cocaine and marijuana would be admitted, denying the motion to suppress. (App. 136). The cocaine was found in plain view and thus did not require the search warrant be timed with its discovery. *State v. Wright*, 391 S.C. 436, 443, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011) (discussing admissibility of evidence seized from plain view and discarding requirement that discovery be inadvertent).

main key to the whole puzzle” because he was “the main thing that made all this take place and transpire” and was therefore critical to his case. (App. 695). Petitioner also testified that prior to the buy-bust he met Ainsworth “at a house in Gaston and he showed up to meet Dana [Merritt] and Dana wasn’t there and that’s how the – we nego – we first started what you was speaking about earlier with the two – first transactions” with Ainsworth. (App. 699). Petitioner testified that now he feels betrayed by Ainsworth. (App. 700). However, Petitioner’s testimony only demonstrates that he was in fact predisposed to the deal at the time of the buy-bust because he had conducted prior deals with Ainsworth. Further, Petitioner’s testimony fails to take into account the independent investigation and preparation demonstrated by trial counsel’s testimony, which ultimately garnered Petitioner a jury instruction on the defense of entrapment.

Finally, Ainsworth’s testimony further buttresses trial counsel’s assessment of his viability as a credible witness. His testimony at PCR was inconsistent when challenged. He additionally demonstrated a predisposition by Petitioner to engage in the drug trade. Ainsworth, who grew up with Petitioner, testified he agreed to work as a confidential informant against Petitioner in a buy-bust in order to cooperate with law enforcement to help resolve a series of pending band fraud charges. (App. 623, 638, 641-42). According to Ainsworth, law enforcement initially wanted his assistance in targeting one Dana Merritt, whom Ainsworth knew through Petitioner. (App. 623-24, 641). At some point during his cooperation with law enforcement, Ainsworth agreed to individually engage Petitioner in two arranged buys which took place “a couple of days or a couple of weeks” prior to the buy-bust ending in Petitioner’s arrest. (App. 638-40). Ainsworth testified that at some point prior to the final buy-bust, he told law enforcement he wanted to back out, but law enforcement threatened violence if he did not continue to cooperate. (App. 624, 641). Ainsworth agreed during cross-examination that he

ratted out his friend in order to work off his bank fraud charges. (App. 641-42). Ultimately, Ainsworth set up the final buy-bust with Petitioner. (App. 626-27). Ainsworth drove one agent to a residence of Petitioner's and Ainsworth and the agent each carried a bag with marijuana inside intending to exchange it for cocaine from Petitioner. (App. 627, 637-38).

Ainsworth also testified he never saw the cocaine prior to the flash-bang going off, and that once it did, he could not see anything in the house and he was knocked to the floor and handcuffed. (App. 628-30). He testified that as law enforcement drove him away from the residence, he overheard a telephone conversation between the agent driving the car and someone at the scene indicating "the cocaine was fake." (App. 631). He furthered that soon after the buy-bust, law enforcement gave him \$1000 to leave and go to Georgia. Law enforcement at this time told him that someone had a \$10,000 hit on his head.² (App. 632). On this, the testimony concerning the authenticity of the drugs as nearly immediately determined at the scene, and on verbal threat to continue acting as CI, Petitioner offered no corroboration. *See Bannister* The chemical and audio-recorded evidence presented at trial otherwise contradicts Ainsworth's assertions.

Ainsworth testified he was aware that Petitioner's bond was denied because he had been threatening witnesses. (App. 633). But Ainsworth thereafter testified that he never knew where the origin of law enforcement's telling him there was a \$10,000 hit on his head, and that he never personally received a threat from Petitioner prior to trial. (App. 640). Ainsworth also testified he skipped town after the buy-bust and was arrested in Georgia about a year later. (App. 640-41). In

² On this, the testimony concerning the authenticity of the drugs as nearly immediately determined at the scene, and on the testimony concerning receipt of a verbal threat to continue acting as CI, Petitioner offered no corroboration. The chemical and audio-recorded evidence presented at trial otherwise contradicts Ainsworth's assertions. The State called a series of witnesses who verified the substance and weight of the drugs seized and the location in which they were found to have exchanged hands. (App. 253-301; App. 327-33; App. 350-55).

addition to the South Carolina charges, Ainsworth subsequently incurred charges in Georgia, Tennessee, and North Dakota. (App. 640). As to the alleged threat by law enforcement, Ainsworth testified he began to file a complaint to report it but never followed through with it. (App. 633-34). Ainsworth concluded he was in the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections at the time of Petitioner's trial and was never contacted to testify either for Petitioner or for the State, despite being transported to the courthouse on the day of the trial. (App. 634-35).

On this record, Petitioner cannot demonstrate that the PCR court's Order of Dismissal is controlled by an error of law. (See App. 733-41). Trial counsel's testimony demonstrates a series of strategic decisions made only after a reasonable investigation into the facts and circumstances of his client's engagement with a CI who proved unpredictable, difficult to locate, ridden with criminal charges across jurisdictions, and who by his own admission elected to work with law enforcement to set up his friend. Petitioner has failed to distinguish deficient performance on this record, as trial counsel articulated reasonable grounds for failing to interview and call Ainsworth as a witness at Petitioner's trial. *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. at 457, 710 S.E.2d at 64-65.

Petitioner has also failed to demonstrate prejudice flowing from trial counsel's failure to interview and call Ainsworth as witness, because each witness presented at the PCR hearing offered testimony supportive of a finding that Petitioner was predisposed to the drug trade. *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004) ("the entrapment defense consists of two elements: (1) government inducement, and (2) lack of predisposition"). And, the record includes ample evidence from which the jury could conclude drugs were exchanged as a result of Petitioner's engaging in a deal with the undercover agent. At trial, Agent Carver testified about his role as the undercover drug dealer who bartered fifty pounds of marijuana for twenty-seven ounces of cocaine. (App. 225-89). The audiotape produced from the undercover

agent provided evidence of Petitioner's participation in the drug deal. (See App. 258-61). As Carver testified to, Petitioner was even heard asking for 1,000 pounds of marijuana for the next deal. Petitioner also gave Agent Carver two extra ounces of cocaine and told him how to work with the cocaine to keep it in a brick when unwrapped. (App. 236-40). Petitioner talked to Carver about how "he can't get any marijuana from any of his other connections." (App. 240). The details of the drug deal itself demonstrate Petitioner's dominion and control over the drugs when he invited Agent Carver and the CI into the home and engaged in an exchange of marijuana for cocaine. (App. 234-61). Petitioner pulled a big bag of cocaine from his own cardboard box to effectuate the exchange and added on a small baggie with two additional ounces. (App. 238-39). Ainsworth's PCR testimony at least corroborates that the invitation into the home for purposes of the deal did occur. (App. 627, 637-38). The cocaine ended up in the bookbag brought to the deal by law enforcement and Carver, the only law enforcement agent in the room at the time of the buy-bust, did not put it there. (App. 244-49). The State also called D.I. Blackwell, a deputy sheriff with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, and Emily Homer Conrad, a chemist with the department, to testify regarding the weight of the drugs: 51 pounds of marijuana and a total of 751.34 grams of cocaine. (App. 333; App. 354-55). It is clear from the testimony at trial and the presentation of the audiotape of the exchange that Petitioner accepted the marijuana brought to the exchange and provided the cocaine, making him an active participant in deal for which he was convicted. See *State v. Muhammed*, 338 S.C. 22, 26-27, 524 S.E.2d 637, 639 (Ct. App. 1999) (discussing actual and constructive possession as element of trafficking).

Based upon this record, the PCR court was correct to conclude that trial counsel made a strategic decision entitled to deference by the standard attaching to this action, and that no error or prejudice resulted. *McHam v. State, supra; Suber v. State, supra.*

CONCLUSION

Considering the foregoing, the State requests this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.